

## Table of contents

Executive summary	3
Streamed content takes over	
after the Great Correction	4
US streaming battleground	5
Netflix versus the rest	
Disney gets its act together	6
Amazon Prime flexes its muscles	
Warner Brothers Discovery to acquire Paramount?	
Outlook	9
UK streaming battleground	10
ITV	
STV Group	
About the author	
Disclaimer	15
Status of Hardman & Co's research under MIEID II	15



## **Executive summary**

#### Streamed content takes over...

- ► The Great Correction of 2022 saw the share prices of streamers plunge after market leader Netflix reported a slowdown/fall in subscriber growth.
- ▶ Having formerly been seduced by hectic subscriber growth rates, investors quickly refocused, this time on fundamental metrics such as revenue, margins, profits and cashflow.
- ▶ Since then, streamers have continued to take a steadily greater share of viewing while linear TV continues to decline. But growth in streaming subscribers in the US and UK is now a fraction of what it was, reflecting pressure on consumer incomes and intensified competition in content.
- ▶ The slowdown in growth of subscribers has led to a revision of business models. Netflix is broadening its offer to subscribers by investing in areas such as sport, gaming and gambling, aiming to become an entertainment hub. The business is scalable, with pricing power, so margins are rising.
- ▶ Disney has dealt with management issues and with attempts by outside investors to gain a seat on the board. Based on its enormous content assets, it is set to move into profit on its streaming offering this year and, like Netflix, it will be an entertainment hub.
- ▶ Streamers see advertising as an attractive source of revenue and are offering advertising-supported tiers at low prices. If their content delivers audiences that advertisers want, streamers will have a slice of high-margin revenue. Plus, streamers view the lower prices as a way of reeling in new subscribers, rather than encouraging trading down.
- ▶ In the UK, competition for viewers is intense with the US-based streamers up against the Public Service Broadcasters. ITV and STV have adopted three-legged strategies: linear broadcasting, programme making and streaming, but, currently, they are still too dependent on linear advertising revenue for investors' liking.
- ▶ Streaming is now a global business. Netflix identifies 700m connected TVs worldwide and compares this with its subscriber numbers of 260m. Even in the domestic US market, streaming accounts for only 10% of TV time, so plenty of growth to go for.
- ▶ In the US, loss-making streamers (Warner Brothers Discovery, Paramount) are considering merging. Outside of Netflix, only Disney looks like making profits from streaming, but Amazon Prime may be on the path to profit too, in view of its strong growth in subscribers.
- ▶ Streaming is a disruptive, content-led, subscription-based technology. Challenging all video distribution business models, it opens up global opportunities for a growing variety of content, including gaming and sport. Successful use of content to engage and retain subscribers in a scalable business will lead to strong profit growth. The old saying that "content is king" has never been truer.



Highly rated shares slumped when the growth in streaming subscribers stalled in 2022

### ...after the Great Correction

Prior to 2022, investors put a high rating on shares such as Netflix, clearly believing that the company was the winner in the race for the future of video distribution. However, net losses of US paid subscribers in 2Q, 3Q and 4Q'22 shattered this dream and shook the entire streaming industry. Share prices plunged. They have recovered since, but only modestly, and not to the extent of Netflix.

Streamer share prices: 2021/22 high/low; end-2023					
\$	Netflix	Disney	Comcast	WBD	Paramount
High	682.6	192.3	67.0	77.3	99.2
Low	175.5	81.1	29.3	9.2	10.7
End-2023	486.8	90.3	43.8	11.4	15.0

Source: Company websites

Awakening from the dream, investors went back to basics and began to demand commercial success, with growth in revenue and profits and strong, sustainable cashflow. Questions were raised about high debt levels, which resulted from accelerating content spending, where it was not always possible to demonstrate a positive return.

The video distribution industry is facing two imperatives:

- > streaming is the technology of the future but needs substantial investment; and
- ▶ streaming is loss-making in the short term for some newer entrants to the market. They will need to decide for how long they can tolerate the cash outflow and higher debt.

In the short term at least, there are many challenges. In some cases, weak linear TV advertising is hitting revenues. All are affected by inflation in content costs, following settlement of the actors' and writers' strike. Sport is seen as a major audience builder, but sports costs are rising too.

M&A activity could solve some strategic and operating problems, such as losses, but who would buy and who would sell?

Slower growth in streaming and investor demand for better financial performance is driving changes in business models and corporate strategies. Market leaders are evolving into "entertainment solutions", which will attract and retain subscribers based on the breadth of their content offering.

Netflix is acquiring assets in gaming and gambling, for example, which will drive subscription growth and make price increases possible. Disney probably has the widest and deepest content portfolio and Disney+ (the streaming service) is growing strongly. These two, and possibly Amazon Prime, will be market leaders globally and will benefit from economies of scale. All are offering advertising-backed, cheaper content services.

Other competitors will have to offer attractive content at competitive prices and will be more at the mercy of trends in consumer spending than their larger rivals.

Slower growth in streaming markets plus investor demand for better financial performance is driving changes in business models



## **US** streaming battleground

#### Netflix versus the rest

Netflix is the longest-established streamer and market leader with a good trading track record Netflix is the longest-established streamer and is market leader, by some way. It has delivered subscriber growth year after year, making profits and generating cash but spending heavily on content while taking on rising levels of debt.

TV, generally, was a very local industry, based in regions, towns or countries, until technology made streaming possible, and then it became global. Netflix went global in 2016 and, at the same time, began to build up its original content library, having previously bought in or licensed its content.

Heavy spending on content from 2016

There was a leap in spending on original content between 2016 and 2022, from \$5bn to \$14.5bn. Over the same period, operating margins grew from 4% to 20%, as the gearing effect of subscriber growth in global markets kicked in.

Following the downturn of 2022, Netflix reminded investors not to focus too heavily on subscriber numbers. This may look to be an obvious comment after the modest period of subscriber growth, but the point being made was that there are other ways of driving revenue, profit and cashflow.

In the US, price increases came to the rescue, with the average revenue per customer rising by 7.3% from \$14.78 (FY'21 average) to \$15.86 (FY'22 average) compared with a 0.3% fall in average subscribers from 74.234m to 74.001m.

In 2023, 3Q and 4Q results beat expectations, and margins and cashflow improved

The 4Q'23 results were ahead of expectations, with revenue growing by 12.5%, reflecting the benefits of increased paid sharing, price increases and a strong slate of movies. Better-than-expected revenue growth fed through to higher operating income and record 4Q margins of 16.9% compared with 7% in 4Q'22. Globally, subscriber numbers reached 260m.

Netflix: recent trading					
\$m	4Q'22	1Q'23	2Q'23	3Q'23	4Q'23
Revenue	7,852	8,162	8,187	8,542	8,833
% +/-	1.9%	2.7%	3.7%	7.8%	12.5%
Operating income	550	1,714	1,827	1,916	1,496
Operating margin	7.0%	21.0%	22.3%	22.4%	16.9%
Global paid members (m)	230.75	232.50	238.39	247.15	260.28
% +/-	4.0%	4.9%	8.0%	10.8%	12.8%

Source: Company announcements, Hardman & Co Research

At the same time as financials improved, Netflix expanded its strategic horizons by creating new content categories that add value for customers. Cashflow continues to be directed to film making and acquisition but also to interests in gambling and gaming.

Netflix offers an ad-supported channel at a lower price, but advertising has been slow to build up; advertisers must want the audiences that Netflix delivers. It remains to be seen if advertising is a "growth lever".

While Netflix emphasises that subscriber growth is not the holy grail, it is keen to point out that there is enormous further potential for growth, on a global basis. It also maintains that scale is a priority. Worldwide, there are nearly a billion broadband subscribers.



Netflix sees itself as a global entertainment company

Netflix makes a major move into live sports entertainment by means of a long-term partnership with sports entertainment company WWE

Fiscal 2023 ended on a strong note for Disney, although streaming was still loss-making

Disney's corporate strategy for streaming: ESPN, film studios and experiences

The creation of a "deep slate" of content continues as Netflix moves into unscripted content in English and in local languages and into other genres, such as animation, sport and video games. The aim is to grow engagement with a wide range of content offerings. And engagement means retention of subscribers. Pricing strategy will reflect this with a wide range of options for a wide range of consumers.

Netflix sees itself as a global entertainment company. Success in this strategy plus a very scalable business model lies behind the company's confidence in becoming more profitable still. In its 3Q'23 results commentary, Netflix claimed that it was nowhere near a margin ceiling. In FY'23, margins of 20% are expected, rising to 22%-23% in 2024.

With the 4Q'23 results figures, Netflix announced a major move into live sports entertainment in the form of a long-term partnership with WWE, a global leader in sports entertainment. Netflix is to pay \$5bn for 10 years of content.

From January 2025, WWE's weekly flagship programme (*Raw*) will find an exclusive home on Netflix in the US, Canada, the UK, Latin America and other territories with more countries to be added over time. In addition, Netflix will offer subscribers all WWE shows and specials outside the US (including *Raw*).

There is a strong message for the TV industry here as *Raw* will no longer be on linear and has moved to a digital service, enabling it to appeal to a larger audience globally, which should be attractive to advertisers. The deal is also in line with the Netflix objective of becoming an entertainment hub.

Netflix outlines its opportunities in global terms: pay TV, films, games and branded advertising together make up a market of \$600bn. At the moment, Netflix has just 5% of this.

## Disney gets its act together

Following a difficult 2022 and early 2023, Disney reported group revenue of \$89bn (+7%) and a 6% rise in group operating profit to \$12.9bn, for the year to September 2023. There was a particularly strong 4Q, with group profits up 86%. Profits on linear networks were steady, at \$805m, but losses on direct-to-consumer (DTC) were sharply lower at \$400m, a turnaround of \$1bn.

At the end of the year, Disney+ subscribers totalled 112m, with 7m added in 4Q. Ad-supported Disney+ products grew by 2m in 4Q to 5.2m. The target for cost cutting (annualised) was raised from \$5.5bn to \$7.5bn.

The CEO confirmed his target of hitting profitability on streaming in 4Q'24.

Disney revealed four "building opportunities" that constituted the next phase of its corporate strategy.

- Achieving significant and sustained profitability in the streaming business
- ▶ Building ESPN into the pre-eminent digital sports platform
- ▶ Improving the output and economics of its film studios
- ► Turbocharging growth in the experiences business



Disney is to acquire the remaining stake in Hulu (the US subscription streaming service) from Comcast and make it part of Disney+. After much speculation, ESPN+ will be absorbed into Disney+. These moves bring together all of Disney's streaming assets, creating a formidable offering to consumers. Reflecting this strength, streaming prices were increased in 1Q'24.

The combined streaming businesses are set to reach profitability by 4Q'24, helping to narrow the gap in group margins between Disney (14.5%) and Netflix (21%).

#### Amazon Prime flexes its muscles

Prime Video is a main reason to sign up for Amazon Prime

At its simplest, Amazon uses technology to transform customer experiences. Prime Video fits the bill; it is one of the top two reasons for subscribers to sign up with Amazon Prime, Amazon's paid subscription service, which offers goods and services at a discount to regular purchases on Amazon.

Amazon Prime Video gives subscribers access to popular movies and TV shows. In addition, membership of Prime Video gives access to content from streaming services such as Paramount+, Discovery+, Lionsgate+, StudioCanal and MGM. Prime Video offers a premium streaming service, as well as a broad transactional video-on-demand service.

Prime Video could become a large and profitable business

In its 3Q trading statement in October 2023, Amazon gave a hint of its ambitions, in stating that Prime Video could become a large and profitable business as it continues to invest in exclusive content for members. It does not offer live TV. Exclusive content is provided by Amazon Originals. Amazon Exclusives offers exclusive movies but not made by Amazon.

In March 2022, Amazon Prime acquired MGM Studios for \$8.4bn, adding exclusive movies to its offering.

In January 2024, advertising started on Prime Video, following in the footsteps of Disney+ and Netflix. Subscribers who wish to avoid the advertising have the option to upgrade to an advertising-free service for an extra £2.99 per month.

Amazon Prime has proved to be a hugely attractive consumer platform. It currently has 220m subscribers, of which 168m are in the US. In 2022, Amazon Prime Video had 190m subscribers.

Amazon is a formidable marketing machine and has the financial firepower to sustain a period of spending on content, but it remains to be seen how attractive its offering is when compared to Netflix and Disney, which are becoming entertainment hubs.

# Warner Brothers Discovery to acquire Paramount?

WBD aims to build scale in streaming

To compete with the leading streamers, consolidation among rivals is a likely option. It is widely reported that Warner Brothers Discovery (WBD) and Paramount Global are in merger talks. Both companies are making losses, or marginal profits, on their streaming assets. The need to make a success of streaming by building scale and cutting costs is the key driving force behind the mooted deal.

Paramount Plus, the streaming service, has 63m subscribers. WBD has 95m and HBO Max has 60m. This compares with Netflix, which has 260m.



Wall Street unimpressed by a defensive merger

WBD itself is the result of a merger, in April 2023, between Warner Media and Discovery. This left WBD with high levels of debt, which the company has focused on reducing. At the end of 3Q'23, net debt was \$45bn, after paying down \$12bn.

Wall Street was unimpressed by the notion of a combined group and both shares fell on the announcement of a potential tie-up. The main concern was the level of debt carried by both companies; strategically, though, there was concern about their involvement in declining linear TV assets as well as continuing losses on streaming.

WBD's 2023 revenue is estimated (market consensus) to reach \$44bn. For 2024, revenue is set to grow by just 1.5%, with a loss at the operating level. No profit growth is expected until 2026.

For the first nine months of 2023, Paramount reported revenue of \$22bn (flat against 2022) and a loss of \$855m at the operating level. Group performance was better in 3Q, with revenue up 3%, due mainly to a 46% rise in Paramount+subscription revenues to \$1.3 bn. Elsewhere in the group, both linear TV and Studios saw a fall in revenue and profit.



## Outlook

With Netflix tightening its grip on the streaming market, investor attention has switched to the rest of the streamers, who may have lost a combined \$5bn in 2023, industry sources suggest.

Netflix has a strong market position, established over many years, with a library of many titles and many genres. In addition, with a strong front list, Netflix can (and does) price at a premium to its rivals. Rivals must price at a discount to win and retain subscribers, despite offering some attractive content.

Spending on content remains a battleground, and despite a slight lowering of industry content spend, this lies behind the losses in 2023. Longer term, the cost of content will continue to rise, due to competition among streamers. There is no certainty that there will be profits. The exceptions are Netflix (margins 20% and rising) and Disney, which maintains that its streaming operations will be profitable in December 2024.

There are several possible solutions to the problem of losses:

- ► Consolidation is one route to lower costs and a stronger content offering. Paramount might be up for sale, possibly to Warner, which has been losing streaming subscribers.
- ► Major cost-cutting exercises are applied Disney is cutting \$7.5bn, or 7,000 jobs.
- ▶ Production costs have risen after the settlement of the Hollywood screenwriters' and actors' strike. The stronger companies can cope with this by raising prices, but weaker ones will have to cut costs further.
- As yet, no competitor has packed up his tent and left the field of battle. A merger of lossmakers has been suggested to strengthen the content offering and take advantage of the economics of scale, but this is not from a position of strength and leaves questions unanswered.

Consolidation is a short-term response to over-investment in content, but M&A is not the solution to any longer-term slowdown in the streaming market, which may cause problems for the weaker players. According to Alix Partners, the US streaming market grew at 22% p.a. between 2017 and 2023 but is maturing and is forecast to grow at "mid-single-digit" rates between 2024 and 2026.

Currently, the advertising market is weak, reflecting slower economic growth and rising costs for consumers. However, in the longer term, digital is set to take a larger and larger slice of total advertising spend. In 2018, digital accounted for 51% of global ad spend and is forecast to account for 74% in 2026.



## **UK** streaming battleground

SVOD households in the UK continue to rise...

The penetration of UK households by subscription video on demand (SVOD) continues to rise. Based on figures from BARB's Establishment Survey, 19.3m UK homes (67.3%) had access to SVOD services in 3Q'23. This a rise of 2.7% on the previous quarter but in line with 1Q'23.

Number of households subscribing to SVOD services in the UK				
(m)	1Q	2Q	3Q	4Q
2021	17.4	18.8	18.7	19.1
2022	19.6	19.2	19.5	19.4
2023	19.1	18.8	19.3	-

Source: BARB, Hardman & Co Research

The rise has slowed materially over the past three years. Figures for 3Q'23 are 6.9% above the figure for 3Q'21 but are below those for 3Q'22.

...but streaming markets in both the UK and US are seeing slower growth than before

Streaming markets in the US and UK are seeing slower growth than before. There seems to be many reasons, not least the squeeze on consumers' income. But also a factor is content fatigue, which, Deloitte reports, is a leading reason for 21% of UK streamers cancelling their subscriptions in 2023. Other reasons for cancelling include price (27%), keeping household costs down (24%) and, remarkably, "there was nothing I wanted to watch" (16%). Kantar identifies "boomerang" consumers, who sign up to watch a series then cancel. This applies particularly to new entrants, which offer low prices in order to buy their way in and drive for scale.

Account sharing is a major issue for streamers. Altogether, 35% of subscribers are sharing an account with other households; they either share a paying account or are not paying at all. According to Deloitte, if sharing were to be stopped, 21% of subscribers would consider a full price service, 35% would consider a higher price than they were paying and 35% would consider a service with adverts.

The streamers are approaching this issue carefully as they want to increase the yield per subscriber but are wary of higher prices driving sharers away.

Nevertheless, streaming is popular. The average number of subscriptions per home rose to 2.62 in 2023, up from 2.46 the previous year. In some cases, there is "service stacking", i.e. buying multiple subscriptions. This is a way to see what is on offer, but accounts for cancelling and must be vulnerable to price rises.

Netflix is the service with the greatest access (16.7m homes) followed by Amazon Prime Video (13.0m), Disney (7.6m), Apple TV+ (2.2m), and Paramount+ and NOW (1.9m each).

Leading streamers in the UK market in 2023				
(m)	1Q'23	2Q'23	3Q'23	
Netflix	17.0	16.5	16.7	
Amazon Prime	12.9	12.6	13.0	
Disney+	7.1	7.2	7.6	
Apple TV+	1.9	1.9	2.2	
Paramount+	-	1.7	1.9	
NOW	2.0	2.0	1.9	
Total UK homes with subscriptions	19.0	18.8	19.3	

Source: BARB, Hardman & Co Research



#### ITV

A robust strategy, focused on content and streaming

ITV defines itself as a "leading global and diversified vertically integrated producer broadcaster and streamer" (2022 annual report). Its vision for 2026 is to be a leader in UK streaming and an expanding global force in content.

ITV operates under two divisional headings:

- ▶ Media & Entertainment: All of ITV's channels and platforms fall into this division, which consists of Broadcasting and Streaming. In December 2022, ITV launched its new, advertising-funded, free, streaming platform ITVX. ITVX also has an advertising-free subscription offering.
- ▶ ITV Studios: The accelerating pace of change in the TV market is driving sustained growth in the demand for content for linear and streamed TV. Demand is also driven by a growing range of devices on which content can be accessed.

ITV: revenue profile		
(£m)	2021	2022
Studios	1,760	2,096
Total Studios	1,760	2,096
Media & Entertainment		
Digital advertising	293	343
Linear advertising	1,664	1,588
Total advertising	1,957	1,931
Digital revenue	54	68
Other revenue	293	182
Total Media & Entertainment	2,282	2,249
Total	4,042	4,345
Less internal supply	(589)	(617)
Group	3,453	3,728

Source: ITV, Hardman & Co Research

ITV's stated corporate strategy is to be a leader in UK streaming and an expanding global force in content. The strategy has three strands:

- ▶ Supercharging streaming: ITVX was launched in December 2022, starting life with 19,000 hours of content (22,000 at the 2023 interim results stage). ITVX offers viewers the chance to watch programmes before they are broadcast and offers content from the programme archive. Additionally, some content will be offered from international studios.
- ▶ Expanding Studios globally: Internationally, the demand for content is being driven by global streamers. ITV has shared in this growth and, in 2022, it derived 22% of its revenue from streaming platforms (2021: 13%). In line with other broadcasters, ITV expects slower growth in the streaming content market in future but, nevertheless, aims to derive 30% of its revenue from this market in 2026.
- ▶ Optimising the advertising-driven linear channels: Linear advertising is a strong cash generator and, in this way, sustains investment in the Studios and ITVX. Optimising refers to keeping a balance between linear and ITVX to prevent one taking share from the other.



#### Strategy falling into place

At the time of the 2023 interim results, at end-June, ITV was able to report good strategic progress and strong results from Studios (revenue up 8%) and ITVX (revenue up 24%). Although ITV maintained its position as a clear leader in linear advertising, total advertising revenue fell by 11% and ITV described the market as "challenging". Overall, total group revenue fell by 1% to £1.639bn.

More spending on content leads to a 29% rise in users on ITVX

The ITVX business model developed positively. Greater spending on content attracted more users, who watched more and stayed for longer (compared with ITV Hub). With a 29% growth in active users to 12.5m, and a 33% rise in total streaming hours to 737m, total digital revenue rose 24% to £218m (13% of the group total), as at end-June 2023.

Based on these results, ITV stuck to its target of at least £750m of digital revenue by 2026. By 2026, ITV expects about two-thirds of total revenue to come from its growth drivers; i.e. Studios and digital.

A broader strategic development reminds investors that digital cannot be seen in isolation. ITV is creating bespoke partnerships across linear and ITVX to leverage the strength of certain programme brands to help advertisers connect with audiences in unique ways.

Good strategic progress reported in the 3Q'23 statement but with a slower streaming market and intensified competition...

ITV reported "good strategic progress" in the 3Q statement, but, like other streamers, it faces slower growth in the streaming market and greater competition from the big US streamers. Netflix, Disney+ and Amazon Prime are setting up a lower tier of service at a cheaper rate and partly funded by advertising. If advertisers are getting the audiences they want, this could eat into ITV's digital advertising. However, the free ITVX service is already a strong competitor and will offer ever more content, some original and some from its vast library.

...and a similar pattern in November with weak linear advertising

ITV's trading update in November 2023 reported strong revenue growth by digital and studios (+9% to £1.15bn), but the decline in linear advertising (-7%) limited group revenue growth to 1%. ITVX produced total digital revenue growth of 23% to £340m from 27% growth in total streaming hours. Digital advertising reached £283m (83% of total digital revenue).

Despite stronger headwinds, ITV remained confident of delivering digital revenue of at least £750m by 2026.

#### **STV Group**

STV Group's strategy is to transform the group into a digital streaming and contentled media company while maximising returns from the linear (broadcast) business. The Studios and Digital divisions are the focus of growth.

Current corporate target is a 50/50 split in profits between linear and non-linear operations by the end of 2023

STV's current corporate target is to get 50% of its operating profits from non-linear TV by the end of 2023 (2018:24%).

The company is organised into three interconnected business divisions:

- ▶ **Broadcast:** STV has a leading position among viewers in Scotland and aims to maintain this position and grow Scottish-related ad revenues. STV has a huge reach in Scotland (over 3m adults per month) and has a higher daily/weekly/monthly reach than all SVOD services combined.
- ▶ **Digital:** STV Player is being transformed from a catch-up service to a digital destination. It is available on all major platforms, including Freeview, Sky Glass and NOW. In December 2022, an enhanced strategic partnership was agreed



with ITV around content sharing and advertising sales. The available content on STV Player has been broadened and deepened. In addition to network content, Player exclusive content has been added, and third-party content has been acquired, helping to build up the library.

▶ STV Studios: This division is not short of ambition. It aims to be a world-class producer for the biggest TV networks and global streamers as well as the UK's No1 Nations and Regions production company. STV has targeted revenue of £40m by 2023 (2020: £8.7m). There are nine production labels in the division, with stakes of various sizes being held in the six independent labels; these may become wholly owned in due course.

STV Group is small by international standards: 2022 revenue was £138m and operating margins were 18.7%. The content-led strategy is proving successful in driving growth. However, investors still focus heavily on the performance of the broadcast business where advertising is currently weak.

STV: revenue profile		
(£m)	2021	2022
Studios	27.0	23.9
Broadcast	108.8	107.6
Digital	17.8	19.0
Other	1.0	0.0
Total	154.6	150.5
Less intragroup	(10.1)	(12.7)
Group	144.5	137.8

Source: STV Group, Hardman & Co Research



## About the author



#### Derek Terrington

Derek Terrington is responsible for covering media stocks at Hardman & Co.

He has more than 30 years' experience in the City, and was rated top analyst in the Institutional Investor Survey for the Publishing sector for four years from 1988 to 1991. He has worked at leading City brokers and financial institutions, and was Head of Media Research at UBS, KBS and Commerzbank, as well as Partner and Head of Research at Teather & Greenwood. On the buy side, he has been a media analyst at AXA Fund Managers.

Derek joined Hardman & Co in 2013. He is a graduate of the University of Cape Town, with an MA in Economics, and is an FRSA.



#### Disclaimer

Hardman & Co provides professional independent research services and all information used in the publication of this report has been compiled from publicly available sources that are believed to be reliable. However, no guarantee, warranty or representation, express or implied, can be given by Hardman & Co as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the information contained in this research and they are not responsible for any errors or omissions or results obtained from use of such information. Neither Hardman & Co, nor any affiliates, officers, directors or employees accept any liability or responsibility in respect of the information which is subject to change without notice and may only be correct at the stated date of their issue, except in the case of gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct. In no event will Hardman & Co, its affiliates or any such parties be liable to you for any direct, special, indirect, consequential, incidental damages or any other damages of any kind even if Hardman & Co has been advised of the possibility thereof.

This research has been prepared purely for information purposes, and nothing in this report should be construed as an offer, or the solicitation of an offer, to buy or sell any security, product, service or investment. The research reflects the objective views of the analyst(s) named on the front page and does not constitute investment advice. However, the companies or legal entities covered in this research may pay us a fixed fee in order for this research to be made available. A full list of companies or legal entities that have paid us for coverage within the past 12 months can be viewed at <a href="http://www.hardmanandco.com/legals/research-disclosures">http://www.hardmanandco.com/legals/research-disclosures</a>. Hardman may provide other investment banking services to the companies or legal entities mentioned in this report.

Hardman & Co has a personal dealing policy which restricts staff and consultants' dealing in shares, bonds or other related instruments of companies or legal entities which pay Hardman & Co for any services, including research. No Hardman & Co staff, consultants or officers are employed or engaged by the companies or legal entities covered by this document in any capacity other than through Hardman & Co.

Hardman & Co does not buy or sell shares, either for their own account or for other parties and neither do they undertake investment business. We may provide investment banking services to corporate clients. Hardman & Co does not make recommendations. Accordingly, they do not publish records of their past recommendations. Where a Fair Value price is given in a research note, such as a DCF or peer comparison, this is the theoretical result of a study of a range of possible outcomes, and not a forecast of a likely share price. Hardman & Co may publish further notes on these securities, companies and legal entities but has no scheduled commitment and may cease to follow these securities, companies and legal entities without notice.

The information provided in this document is not intended for distribution to, or use by, any person or entity in any jurisdiction or country where such distribution or use would be contrary to law or regulation or which would subject Hardman & Co or its affiliates to any registration requirement within such jurisdiction or country.

Some or all alternative investments may not be suitable for certain investors. Investments in small and mid-cap corporations and foreign entities are speculative and involve a high degree of risk. An investor could lose all or a substantial amount of his or her investment. Investments may be leveraged and performance may be volatile; they may have high fees and expenses that reduce returns. Securities or legal entities mentioned in this document may not be suitable or appropriate for all investors. Where this document refers to a particular tax treatment, the tax treatment will depend on each investor's particular circumstances and may be subject to future change. Each investor's particular needs, investment objectives and financial situation were not taken into account in the preparation of this document and the material contained herein. Each investor must make his or her own independent decisions and obtain their own independent advice regarding any information, projects, securities, tax treatment or financial instruments mentioned herein. The fact that Hardman & Co has made available through this document various information constitutes neither a recommendation to enter into a particular transaction nor a representation that any financial instrument is suitable or appropriate for you. Each investor should consider whether an investment strategy of the purchase or sale of any product or security is appropriate for them in the light of their investment needs, objectives and financial circumstances.

This document constitutes a 'financial promotion' for the purposes of section 21 Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (United Kingdom) ('FSMA') and accordingly has been approved by Capital Markets Strategy Ltd which is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA).

No part of this document may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior permission from Hardman & Co. By accepting this document, the recipient agrees to be bound by the limitations set out in this notice. This notice shall be governed and construed in accordance with English law. Hardman Research Ltd, trading as Hardman & Co, is an appointed representative of Capital Markets Strategy Ltd and is authorised and regulated by the FCA under registration number 600843. Hardman Research Ltd is registered at Companies House with number 8256259.

(Disclaimer Version 8 – Effective from August 2018)

#### Status of Hardman & Co's research under MiFID II

Some professional investors, who are subject to the new MiFID II rules from 3rd January, may be unclear about the status of Hardman & Co research and, specifically, whether it can be accepted without a commercial arrangement. Hardman & Co's research is paid for by the companies, legal entities and issuers about which we write and, as such, falls within the scope of 'minor non-monetary benefits', as defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II.

In particular, Article 12(3) of the Directive states: 'The following benefits shall qualify as acceptable minor non-monetary benefits only if they are: (b) 'written material from a third party that is commissioned and paid for by a corporate issuer or potential issuer to promote a new issuance by the company, or where the third party firm is contractually engaged and paid by the issuer to produce such material on an ongoing basis, provided that the relationship is clearly disclosed in the material and that the material is made available at the same time to any investment firms wishing to receive it or to the general public...'

The fact that Hardman & Co is commissioned to write the research is disclosed in the disclaimer, and the research is widely available.

The full detail is on page 26 of the full directive, which can be accessed here: <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/finance/docs/level-2-measures/mifid-delegated-regulation-2016-2031.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/finance/docs/level-2-measures/mifid-delegated-regulation-2016-2031.pdf</a>

In addition, it should be noted that MiFID II's main aim is to ensure transparency in the relationship between fund managers and brokers/suppliers, and eliminate what is termed 'inducement', whereby free research is provided to fund managers to encourage them to deal with the broker. Hardman & Co is not inducing the reader of our research to trade through us, since we do not deal in any security or legal entity.

